

# PATH TRIANGULATION, CYCLES AND GOOD COVERS ON PLANAR CELL COMPLEXES. EXTENSION OF J.H.C. WHITEHEAD'S HOMOTOPY SYSTEM GEOMETRIC REALIZATION AND E.C. ZEEMAN'S COLLAPSIBLE CONE THEOREMS

James Peters

# ► To cite this version:

James Peters. PATH TRIANGULATION, CYCLES AND GOOD COVERS ON PLANAR CELL COMPLEXES. EXTENSION OF J.H.C. WHITEHEAD'S HOMOTOPY SYSTEM GEOMETRIC REALIZATION AND E.C. ZEEMAN'S COLLAPSIBLE CONE THEOREMS. 2022. hal-03614419

# HAL Id: hal-03614419 https://hal.science/hal-03614419

Preprint submitted on 20 Mar 2022

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# PATH TRIANGULATION, CYCLES AND GOOD COVERS ON PLANAR CELL COMPLEXES. EXTENSION OF J.H.C. WHITEHEAD'S HOMOTOPY SYSTEM GEOMETRIC REALIZATION AND E.C. ZEEMAN'S COLLAPSIBLE CONE THEOREMS.

#### JAMES F. PETERS

Dedicated to J.H.C. Whitehead & S.V. Banavar

ABSTRACT. This paper introduces path triangulation of points in a bounded, simply connected surface region, replacing ordinary triangles in a Delaunay triangulation with path triangles from homotopy theory. A **path triangle** has a border that is a sequence of paths  $h : I \to X, I = [0, 1]$ . The main results in this paper are that (1) a cone  $D \times I$  collapses to a path triangle  $h \bigtriangleup K$ , extending E.C. Zeeman's dunce hat cone triangle collapse theorem, (2) an ordinary path triangle with geometrically realized straight edges generalizes Veech's billiard triangle, (3) a billiard ball  $K \times I$  collapses to a round path triangle geometrically realized as a triangle with curviliear edges, (4) a geometrically realized homotopy system defined in terms of free group presentations of path triangulations of finite cell complexes extends J.H.C. Whitehead's homotopy system geometric realization theorem and (5) every path triangulation of a cell complex is a good cover.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Preliminaries	3
3.	Path Class Triangles	11
4.	Path Cycles	12
5.	Free Group Presentation of a Path Triangulation	13
6.	Path Triangulation as a Good Cover of a Cell Complex	15
7.	Conjectures	15
Acknowledgements		15
References		16

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 14F35 (Homotopy theory), 32B25 (Triangulation), 57M05 (Fundamental group, presentations).

Key words and phrases. Billiard Triangle, Free Group Presentation, Good Cover, Homotopy, Path, Path Triangle, Path Triangulation, Zeeman Dunce Hat.

The research has been supported by the Natural Sciences & Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) discovery grant 185986 and Instituto Nazionale di Alta Matematica (INdAM) Francesco Severi, Gruppo Nazionale per le Strutture Algebriche, Geometriche e Loro Applicazioni grant 9 920160 000362, n.prot U 2016/000036 and Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TÜBİTAK) Scientific Human Resources Development (BIDEB) under grant no: 2221-1059B211301223.

#### JAMES F. PETERS

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

In this paper, the conventional Delaunay triangulation of a set of points is replaced by a path triangulation of distinguished points P on a bounded, simply connected surface S, resulting in a collection of path triangles geometrically realized as curvilinear triangles that provide a good cover of the surface. This form of triangulation results in a collection of path-connected points in overlapping path cycles.

A path  $h : [0,1] \to S$  is a continuous mapping from the unit interval to a set of points P in a bounded, simply connected surface S. The surface S is simply connected, provided every path h has end points  $h(0), h(1) \in P$  and h maps to no self-loops.

Paths either lie entirely on a surface boundary in the planar case or puncture a surface in the non-planar case. Paths that puncture a surface are called crosscuts. A **cross cut path** (also called an **ideal arc** [8, §3, p.11]) has both ends in P and path interior in the interior of S. A pair of points p,q in P are called **orphan points**, provided there is no path h with endpoints h(0) = p and h(1) = q. Surface cross cuts are useful in collapsing 3D shapes such as cones and spheres to 2D triangles. A surface **cross section** is a collection of cross-cuts.

Two forms of path triangles are possible: (1) **surface path triangle** with edges and interior entirely on the surface boundary or (2) **cross-cut path triangle** with edges on the surface boundary and with triangle interior in the interior of the surface.

A path triangulation of a bounded surface S (denoted by  $h \triangle^n S$ ) is geometrically realized as a collection of 1-cycles on sequences of triangle edges. A **1-cycle** is a sequence of edges with pairwise shared vertexes with no end vertex, geometrically realized as a simple closed curve. Let  $p, q \in h \triangle^n E$  for a selected vertex p (called a generator) and any other vertex q. A move operation  $+(p,q) \rightarrow kp$  results from traversing the k edges from p to reach q, leading to a free group presentation of E. Free group presentations of path triangulations result in an extension of the homotopy geometric realization theorem introduced by J.H.C. Whitehead [20, 21], namely,

**Theorem** [21, Theorem 2,§6]. A given homotopy system,  $\rho$ , has a geometric realization, if dim  $\leq 4$ .

In its simplest form, a free group presentation of a triangulation  $\rho$  is a free group, which is realized geometrically as a collection of path-connected 1-cycles (see Theorem 7).

Path triangulation leads to the geometric realization of new forms of 2-cells (triangles) [10], homotopic nerves [9] and good covers [11] on a planar triangulated cell complex.

Different forms of path triangles result from an extension of the Zeeman's collapsible dunce hat theorem [23]: A dunce hat cone  $D \times I$  is collapsible to a triangle (see Theorem 1 and Lemma 2). A cell complex K collapses to a subcomplex  $L \subset K$ , provided there is a finite sequence of elementary collapses starting with K and ending with L (denoted by  $K \searrow L$ ) [23, p.342] Here is Zeeman's conjecture (1) (still

open): If K is a contractible 2-complex, then  $K \times I$  is collapsible, *i.e.*, K collapses to a single vertex v in K via a sequences of elementary collapses  $K_i$ :

$$K = K_0 \searrow K_1 \searrow K_i \searrow \cdots \searrow K_n = v.$$

For a recent study of Zeeman's conjecture (1), see A. Kupers [6, §2, p. 37].



FIGURE 1. Three Paths that Construct the Sides of a Path Triangle  $h \triangle E$  in a CW space K, leading to its geometric realization  $|h \triangle E|$  as a 2-cell (triangle)



FIGURE 2. Path-based triangulated Rotman-Vigolo Hawaiian fish cell complex with nucleus vertex  $p \in int(h \bigtriangleup^n K)$ 

# 2. Preliminaries

We assume that a bounded, simply connected surface S is Hausdorf, *i.e.*, surface points P in S reside in disjoint neighborhoods. A path triangulation K of surface points (denoted by  $h\triangle^n K$ ) maps to a collection of triangles that provide an alternative to Delaunay triangulation [3, 4]. The basic building block in  $h\triangle^n K$  is a path triangle denoted by  $h\triangle E$ .

#### Definition 1. Path.

Let I = [0, 1], the unit interval. A **path** in a space (S, P) is a continuous map  $h: I \to S$  with endpoints  $h(0) = x_0, h(1) = x_1 \in P$  and  $h(t) \in S$  for  $t \in I$  [14, §2.1,p.11]. The geometric realization of a path h is denoted |h|.

Lemma 1. Every path has a geometric realization as an edge.

*Proof.* From Def. 1, a path  $h: I \to X$  includes all points  $h(t), t \in [0, 1]$ , *i.e.*, we have the closed set of points

 $\{h(0), \ldots, h(t), \ldots, h(1)\}, \text{ for } 0 \le t \le 1,$ 

which is geometrically realized as an edge |h| = h(0)h(1) with  $h(t) \in int(|h|), t \in (0, 1)$  (interior of edge |h|).

From Lemma 1, the geometric realization of a path h is a 1-cell (edge) |h| in a cell complex. In attaching paths together to construct a path triangle E (see Def. 4), the end result is a path cycle with a geometric counterpart |E| that is a 1-cycle.

**Definition 2. 1-Cycle.** In a CW space K [20], a 1-cycle E (denoted by cycE) in a CW space K is a collection of path-connected vertexes (0-cells) on edges (1-cells) attached to each other with no end vertex.

### Definition 3. Path-Connected.

A pair of 0-cells v, v' in a cell complex K is **path-connected**, provided there is a sequence of paths  $h_1, \ldots, h_k$ , starting with  $h_1(0) := v$  and ending with  $h_{k-1}(1) = h_k(0) := v'$ .

In defining a path triangle, we consider both the bounding edge as well as the interior of the triangle. Consider the contour (bounding edge) of a planar cell complex shape shE (denoted by bdy(shE)) in a CW complex.

#### Definition 4. Path Triangle.

A path triangle  $h \triangle abc$  with a boundary  $bdy(h \triangle abc)$  is a sequence of three overlapping paths with no end path in a space X. Each path  $h \in h \triangle abc$  maps to an edge  $\ell \in X$ .

Each edge  $\ell$  is an edge perpendicular to base bc, with an endpoint on either ab or on ac and  $\ell \cap bdy(h \triangle abc) \neq \emptyset$ . Let the interior  $int(h \triangle abc)$  be defined by the homotopy  $f: X \times I \to Y$ , i.e.,

$$\begin{aligned} X &= \left\{ \ell_i \in h \bigtriangleup abc : \ell_i \perp \widehat{bc} \text{ and } \ell_i \cap bdy(h \bigtriangleup E) \neq \emptyset \right\} \\ Y &= h \bigtriangleup abc. \\ f(\ell_t) &= \ell_t \cap bdy(h \bigtriangleup abc), t \in I. \\ &= set \text{ of boundary points on } h \bigtriangleup abc \text{ cut } by \ \ell_t. \\ int(h \bigtriangleup abc) &= h \bigtriangleup abc \setminus f(\ell_t), \text{ for all } t \in I. \end{aligned}$$

 $h \triangle abc = bdy(h \triangle abc) \cup int(h \triangle abc).$ 

In the plane, the geometric realization of  $h \triangle E$  is a 2-cell (filled triangle) denoted by  $|h \triangle E|$ .

**Remark 1.** For example, a path triangle with an empty interior will result from collapsing a hollow cone<sup>1</sup> such as the one in Fig. 3.

#### 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Many thanks to Tane Vergili for pointing this out



FIGURE 3. Zeeman Dunce Hat (cone)  $D \times I$  collapses to a 2-cell  $\triangle E$  with path  $\ell_i : I \to D$  piercing D at  $\ell_i(0) := p$  and  $\ell_i(1) := q$ .



FIGURE 4. Zeeman Dunce Hat (filled cone) cell complex  $D \times I$ collapses to a filled Path Triangle  $h \bigtriangleup E$  over the unit interval I = [0, 1], *i.e.*,  $D \times I \searrow h \bigtriangleup E$ , *i.e.*, cone  $D \times I$  collapses via a homotopy to a path 2-cell (triangle)  $h \bigtriangleup E$ .

Let D be a cone (a topological dunce hat [23]).

**Theorem 1.** [23, p.342].  $D \times I$  is collapsible.

E.C. Zeeman noted that a dunce hat [23] (cone) D is the simplest polyhedron contractible via a homotopy  $f: D \times I \rightarrow$  cell complex Y, but not collapsible in the sense of J.H.C. Whitehead [19, §3].

Zeeman's dunce hat has a simply connected surface. For Riemann [12, p. 7], a surface is **simply connected**, provided each cross-cut is a line that pierces the interior of the surface. Here, a line is a path  $\ell : I \to 2^{\mathbb{R}^2}$  with  $\ell(t)$  piercing the interior of cone D for  $t \in (0, 1)$ .

**Example 1.** The collapse of a cone  $D \times I$  to a triangle  $\Delta E$  is shown in Fig. 3. This collapse results from the union of the paths  $\ell_i : I \to D$  that cut through the interior of the triangle from points p on the edge of the cone to a points on a line segment  $\widehat{bc}$  that spans the space between the edges at the base of the cone, i.e.,

$$D \times I = \{\ell_0\},$$
  

$$\{\ell_0\} \cup D \setminus \{\ell_0\} \times I = \{\ell_0, \ell_1\}, \cdots,$$
  

$$\{\ell_0, \ell_1, \dots, \ell_i, \dots, \ell_{n-2[n]}\} \cup D \setminus \{\ell_0, \ell_1, \dots, \ell_i, \dots, \ell_{n-1[n]}\} \times I$$
  

$$= \bigcup \ell_i$$
  

$$= \triangle E \in D.$$

In other words, the surface of cone D is simply connected so that each line in the deformation of D to a triangle is a cross-cut path, which punctures the interior of the cone between a surface boundary point p and a point q on a line  $\widehat{bc}$  spanning the base of the cone.

**Lemma 2.** Let  $\triangle abc$  be a triangle with vertex a at the top of a cone D with a simply connected surface. And let base  $\widehat{bc}$  on  $\triangle abc$  be an edge on the base of D. Then  $D \times I \searrow \triangle abc$ .

*Proof.* From Theorem 1,  $D \times I$  collapses. Let  $\ell : I \to 2^{\mathbb{R}^2}$  be a path that puntures D with  $\ell(0)$  on the boundary of D and  $\ell(1)$  on  $\hat{bc}$  on the base of D. Then let the homotopy  $f : D \times I \to \triangle abc$  be defined by

$$f(D,i) = \ell_i \cap \triangle abc = \{p_i\} \in \triangle abc, \text{ with } \ell_i \bot bc \in D.$$
$$\triangle abc = \bigcup_{0 < i \le |\widehat{bc}|} \ell_i.$$

Hence,  $D \times I$  collapses to  $\triangle abc$ .

**Proposition 1.** Let  $h \triangle v_1 v_2 v_3$  be a path triangle with vertex  $v_2$  at the top of a filled cone D with a bounded, simply connected surface. And let base  $\widehat{v_1 v_3}$  on  $h \triangle v_1 v_2 v_3$  be on the base of D. Then  $D \times I \searrow h \triangle v_1 v_2 v_3$ .

*Proof.* To construct the interior of  $h \triangle v_1 v_2 v_3$ , let  $\ell_i : I \rightarrow Y$  be a path that punctures the interior of solid cone  $\triangle v_1 v_2 v_3$ . Then let

$$\ell_i(t) = \ell_i(t) \cap \operatorname{int}(\triangle v_1 v_2 v_3), t \in (0, 1), \ \ell_i \perp \widehat{v_1 v_3} \in \triangle v_1 v_2 v_3.$$
$$\operatorname{int}(h \bigtriangleup v_1 v_2 v_3) = \bigcup_{0 < i < |\widehat{v_1 v_3}|} \ell_i(t).$$

To construct the edges which are paths of  $h \triangle abc$ , let paths  $h_l, h_r, h_b : I \rightarrow D$  be defined as follows:

$$h_{l}(0) := v_{1},$$

$$h_{l}(1) := v_{2},$$

$$h_{l}(t) = h_{l}(t) \cap \operatorname{int}(\widehat{v_{1}v_{2}}), t \in (0, 1)$$

$$h_{r}(0) := v_{2},$$

$$h_{r}(1) := v_{3},$$

$$h_{r}(t) := h_{r}(0) \cap \operatorname{int}(\widehat{v_{2}v_{3}}), t \in (0, 1)$$

$$h_{b}(0) := v_{1},$$

$$h_{b}(1) := v_{3},$$

$$h_{b}(t) := h_{b}(0) \cap \operatorname{int}(\widehat{v_{1}v_{3}}), t \in (0, 1).$$

Then the proof is symmetric with the proof of Lemma 2 and the desired result follows.  $\hfill \Box$ 

**Remark 2.** A path triangle  $h \triangle E$  differs from a triangle in a Zeeman dunce hat cone, since paths construct the bounding edges on  $h \triangle E$ .

**Example 2.** From Lemma 2, a filled cone collapses to a path triangle. A sample  $\triangle v_1 v_2 v_3 \in D$  collapsing of a cone D via a homotopy  $D \times I$  to a path triangle  $h \triangle v_1 v_2 v_3 \in D$  (briefly,  $h \triangle E$ ) is shown in Fig. 4. Here, a sequence of three paths  $h_1, h_2, h_3$  form the edges of the path triangle  $h \triangle E$  with

$$h_1(0) = h_3(1) := v_1.$$
  

$$h_1(1) = h_2(0) := v_2.$$
  

$$h_3(0) = h_2(1) := v_3.$$

The path triangle  $h \triangle E$  in Example 2 has a geometric realization  $|h \triangle E|$ , which is a filled Euclidean triangle with straight edges such as the ones in a Delaunay trianglulation of a space X, *i.e.*,

$$\begin{split} I &= [0,1] \\ h_1: I \to X, h_2: I \to X, h_3: I \to X. \\ h_1 \cap h_3 &= h_1(0) \coloneqq h_3(1), \\ h_1 \cap h_2 &= h_1(1) \coloneqq h_2(0), \\ h_2 \cap h_3 &= h_2(1) \coloneqq h_3(0), \\ h_3 \cap h_1 &= h_3(1) \coloneqq h_1(0), \\ \mathrm{bdy}(h \bigtriangleup E) &= \{h_1, h_2, h_3\} \ \text{(triangle boundary)}. \\ \mathrm{int}(h \bigtriangleup E) \neq \emptyset \ \text{(nonvoid interior)}. \\ \bigtriangleup E &= \mathrm{bdy}(h \bigtriangleup E) \cup \mathrm{int}(h \bigtriangleup E). \\ h \bigtriangleup E \mapsto |h \bigtriangleup E| \,. \end{split}$$

**Example 3.** A sample path triangle  $h \triangle h_1(0)h_2(0)h_3(0)$  and its geometric realization  $|h \triangle v_1v_2v_3|$  are shown in Fig. 1. From Lemma 1, we know that every path in  $h \triangle h_1(0)h_2(0)h_3(0)$  has a geometric realization as a 1-cell (edge). Here, triangle  $|\Delta v_1 v_2 v_3|$  is a geometric realization path triangle  $h \Delta h_1(0)h_2(0)h_3(0)$ , containing a sequence of overlapping paths  $h_1, h_2, h_3$ , i.e.,

$$\begin{array}{l} h_1, h_2, h_3 \in h \bigtriangleup E \mapsto \ \mathbf{edge} \ \widehat{v_1v_2} \in |\bigtriangleup v_1v_2v_3| \,, \ with \\ h_1(0) := h_3(1) := v_1, h_1(1) := h_2(0) := v_2 \ and \\ h_1(t) := \ \mathbf{vertex} \ p \in edge \ \widehat{v_1v_2}, t \in [0, 1]. \\ \\ h_1, h_2, h_3 \in h \bigtriangleup E \mapsto \ \mathbf{edge} \ \widehat{v_2v_3} \in |\bigtriangleup v_1v_2v_3| \,, \ with \\ h_1(1) := h_2(0) := v_2, h_2(1) := h_3(0) := v_3 \ and \\ \\ h_2(t) := \ \mathbf{vertex} \ q \in edge \ \widehat{v_2v_3}, t \in [0, 1]. \\ \\ h_1, h_2, h_3 \in h \bigtriangleup E \mapsto \ \mathbf{edge} \ \widehat{v_3v_1} \in |\bigtriangleup v_1v_2v_3| \,, \ with \\ \\ h_2(1) := h_3(0) := v_3, h_3(1) := h_1(0) := v_1 \ and \\ \\ h_3(t) := \ \mathbf{vertex} \ r \in edge \ \widehat{v_3v_1}, t \in [0, 1]. \end{array}$$



FIGURE 5. Billiard ball cell complex  $K \times I$  Zeeman-style collapses to round Path Triangle  $h \stackrel{\circ}{\bigtriangleup} E$ , *i.e.*, sphere  $K \times I$  collapses via a homotopy to a path 2-cell (triangle)  $h \stackrel{\circ}{\bigtriangleup} E$ .

Let K be a filled sphere in a space  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . A **round triangle** *abc* (denoted by  $\stackrel{\circ}{\bigtriangleup} abc \in K$ ) is a sequence of edges on the circumference of a circle that lies on a slice of a solid sphere with edges on the surface of the sphere.

**Remark 3.** Paths in a path triangle resemble trajectories of a particle in spacetime. From a Physics perspective, a path triangle would be viewed as a sequence of trajectories with overlapping endpoints. In keeping with W.A. Veech's introduction of triangular billiards [17], spheres in this work are called billiard balls. Unlike Veech's billiard triangles with straight edges, the homotopy collapse of a billiard ball results in a round triangle. Round path triangles are useful in covering a cell complex with a curvilinear boundary. For example, in the path triangles  $h \triangle E$  in the triangulation  $h \triangle^n K$  of a cell complex K with curved edges such as those typically found in video frame foreground shapes, we have

$$K = \bigcup_{h \triangle E \in h \triangle^n K} h \triangle E.$$
  
nerve NrvK = 
$$\bigcap_{h \triangle E \in h \triangle^n K} h \triangle E \neq \emptyset.$$

and NrvK contracts to a vertex p in the intersection of the path triangles in  $h \triangle^n K$ . In other words,  $h \triangle^n K$  provides a good cover of cell complex K.

**Proposition 2.** Let  $\triangle$  abc be a round path triangle in a billiard ball complex K in a space X with triangle edges ab, ab, bc on the boundary of K. And let base bc on  $h \triangle abc$  be an edge on the base of D. Sphere  $sphK \times I \searrow h \triangle abc$  collapses to a round triangle  $\triangle abc$ .

*Proof.* Replace cone D with sphere sphK and triangle  $\triangle abc$  with round triangle  $\stackrel{\circ}{\triangle} E$  in the proof of Prop 1 and the desired result follows.

**Proposition 3.** A sphere  $sphK \times I \searrow h \stackrel{\sim}{\bigtriangleup} abc$  collapses to a round path triangle  $h \stackrel{\circ}{\bigtriangleup} E$ .

*Proof.* Replace triangle  $\triangle abc$  with round path triangle  $h \stackrel{\sim}{\triangle} E$  in the proof of Prop. 2 and the desired result follows from Lemma 2.

**Example 4.** A sample collapse of a billiard ball complex to a round triangle is shown in Fig. 5.

**Theorem 2.** Every path triangle has a geometric realization as a 1-cycle.

*Proof.* From Def. 4, a path triangle  $h \triangle K$  is a collection of path-connected vertexes with no end vertex and with nonvoid interior. From Lemma 1, the geometric realization of each path in  $h \triangle K$  is an edge in its geometric realization  $|\triangle K|$ . Consequently, the sequence of paths in  $h\triangle K$  results in a sequence of 1-cells (edges) attached to each other. Hence, from Def. 2,  $|\triangle K|$  is a 1-cycle.

A **path-based triangulation** of a cell complex K (denoted by  $h \bigtriangleup^n K$ ) is a collection of path triangles in which adjacent path triangles either have a common vertex or a common edge. The geometric realization of  $h \bigtriangleup^n K$  is denoted by  $|h \bigtriangleup^n K|$ .

**Example 5.** A sample bounded cell complex K is shown in Fig. 2.1. The path-based triangulation of cell complex  $h \triangle^n K$  displayed in Fig. 2.2 constucts an example of a Rotman-Vigolo Hawaiian fish, inspired by the bird complex in [13, Fig. 11.2, p. 367] and Hawaiian earring in [18, §3.31, p. 79].

#### Definition 5. Orphan Vertex.

Let K be a finite, bounded cell complex. An orphan vertex (briefly, orphan) is a vertex is not an end vertex of a path and is located either on the boundary bdyE or on an edge in the interior intK of K.

**Example 6.** Vertexes p, q in Fig. 2.1 are examples of orphans that cease being orphans in Fig. 2.2, since path h constructs an edge attached p and q.

A path-based triangulation of a cell complex K results in the elimination of orphan vertexes in K, *i.e.*,

### Definition 6. Path Triangulation.

A path triangulation  $h \triangle^n K$  of a cell complex K results from the introduction of a path between every pair of orphans in the complex.

Orphans are distinguished surface points that eventually cease being orphans as a result of a path triangulation.

**Lemma 3.** Every path triangulation of a cell complex containing 3 or more ophan 0-cells results in a collection of path triangles.

*Proof.* Immediate from Def. 6.

#### Theorem 3. Path Triangulation Geometric Realization.

Every path triangulation of a cell complex has a geometric realization as a collection of 1-cycles.

*Proof.* Let  $h \triangle K$  be a path triangulation of a cell complex K. From Lemma 3,  $h \triangle E$  is a collection of path triangles. Hence, from Theorem 2, every path triangle in  $h \triangle K$  has a geometric realization as a 1-cycle, which is the desired result.  $\Box$ 

Lemma 4. Every pair of vertexes in a path triangulation is path-connected.

*Proof.* Let  $h \triangle^n K$  be a path-based triangulation of a cell complex K and let v, v' be vertexes in K. From Def. 6, there are no orphans in  $h \triangle^n K$ . Hence, there is a path  $h \in h \triangle^n K$  with h(0) := v and h(1) is the beginning of one or more paths h'. If h(1) := v', then h is desired path. Otherwise, we follow path h' until we reach vertex v'. As a result, every pair of vertexes in  $h \triangle^n K$  is path-connected.

Recall that a **triangulation**  $\triangle^n K$  of a collection of points (sites) in a bounded planar region K is Delaunay (aka Delone) if and only if the circumcircle of none of its triangles contains sites in its interior [16]. Here, path triangulation eliminates orphan points. Hence, there are no orphans in the interior any path triangle.

**Proposition 4.** There are no orphans in the interior of the triangles in a path triangulation.

*Proof.* This is an immediate consequence of Def. 6.

**Remark 4.** The proposed path triangulation alternative to Delaunay triangulation has a number attractive features, namely,

- 1° For its definition, a path triangle h △ E does not depend on a circumcircle with the absence of sites (orphan vertexes) in its interior, since, from Def. 6, all orphans are endpoints of paths on edges of path in a path triangulation and, from Prop. 4, path triangles do not have orphans in their interiors.
- 2° Every path triangulation has a free group presentation (see Theorem 6). Such a free group has simplicity and reflects the path structure of the triangulation. In a simple extension of Whitehead's homotopy system realization theorem, every free group presentation of a path triangulation has a geometric realization as a collection of triangles (unlike Euclidean triangles, the edges of the triangles covering a complex can be either straight or curved (see, e.g., △ABC in the proof of Prop. 1 in [5] vs. △E in Fig. 5).

#### PATH TRIANGULATION

- 3° Unlike a Delaunay triangle, every path triangle has either a nonvoid or an empty interior.
- 4° Unlike a Zeeman dunce hat triangle or Veech billiard triangle, every point in a path triangle  $h \triangle E$  edge is a known point that is either an endpoint or an interior point in a path that constructs a triangle edge in the path triangulation of distinguished surface orphan points, since we know h(t) for every  $t \in I$  in  $h: I \to K$ .
- 5° Every path-based triangulation of a planar cell complex is a good cover of the complex (see Theorem 8). ■



FIGURE 6.  $[h] \triangle E$  (Curviliner path class triangle)  $\mapsto |[h] \triangle E|$  (geometrically realized as curviliner, overlapping triangles)

#### 3. PATH CLASS TRIANGLES

This section introduces path class triangles.

#### Definition 7. Path-Class.

A path-class h (denoted by [h]) is a collection of paths h that have the same initial and final values, i.e., if path  $h_i, h_j \in [h]$ , then  $h_i(0) = h_j(0)$  and  $h_i(1) = h_j(1)$ .

#### Definition 8. Path-Class Triangle.

A path-class triangle  $[h] \triangle E$  is a collection of three path classes that pairwise have the same initial and final values.

# Example 7. Sample Path-Class Triangle.

A sample path-class triangle  $[h] \triangle E = \{[h], [k], [\ell]\}$  is shown in Fig. 6, i.e., we have

$$h_i \in [h], k_i \in [k], \ell_i \in [\ell], i \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}.$$
  

$$h_i(0) = \ell_i(1) := 0 \text{-cell } v_1,$$
  

$$h_i(1) = k_i(0) := 0 \text{-cell } v_2,$$
  

$$k_i(1) = \ell_i(0) := 0 \text{-cell } v_3.$$

#### Definition 9. Nerve Complex.

A nerve complex NrvE in a CW space is a collection of nonempty cell complexes with nonvoid intersection. This is an example of an Alexandrov nerve [1, §4.3,p. 39].

A vertex with a collection of triangles attached to it, is called the **nucleus** of the attached triangles (also called the nucleus of an Alexandrov-Hopf nerve complex or **Nerv** [2]).

**Lemma 5.** Every vertex in the triangulation of the vertices in a CW space is the nucleus of an Alexandrov-Hopf nerve complex in which one more triangles are attached to each vertex.

**Theorem 4.** A path triangulation of a cell complex containing n vertexes contains n Alexandrov-Hopf nerve complexes.

*Proof.* Immediate from Lemma 5.

# Definition 10. Path Class Triangulation.

A path class triangulation  $[h] \triangle^n E$  of a cell complex K results from the introduction of a path class between one or more pairs of neighboring orphans in the complex.

**Proposition 5.** Every path class triangulation of a cell complex is a collection of Alexandrov-Hopf nerve complexes.

*Proof.* Let  $h \triangle^n K$  be a path class triangulation of a complex K and let  $[h] \triangle E$  be a path class triangle in  $h \triangle^n K$ . From Lemma 5, every vertex in K is the nucleus of an Alexandrov-Hopf nerve complex. From Def. 8, every pair of path classes in  $[h] \triangle E$  with a common orphan vertex have nonvoid intersection equaling the nucleus of an Alexandrov-Hopf nerve complex. Hence, the desired result follows.

**Proposition 6.** Every path class triangulation of a cell complex is a path triangulation.

*Proof.* Since every path class contains one or more paths between neighboring orphans as endpoints, the desired result follows.  $\Box$ 

# 4. PATH CYCLES

This section briefly introduces path cycles that have geometric realization as 1-cycles.

**Definition 11. Path Cycle** [10, App. A]. A **path cycle** hCycE in a CW space K is a sequence of continuous maps  $\{h_i\}_{i=0}^{(n-1)[n]}$ ,

12

 $h_i: I \to K, [n] = mod n, with$ 

 $\begin{aligned} h_{0}(0) &= h_{n}[n](0) = v_{0} \in K, h_{n-1}[n](1) = v_{n-1}[n] \in K. \\ Given \ h_{i} \in \{h_{i}\}_{i=0}^{(n-1)[n]}, \\ g &= h_{i}(0), \ a \ basis \ element \ in \ hCycE, \ so \ that \\ h_{i+k}(0) \ walks \ forward \ k \ vertexes \ from \ g \ to \ reach \ h_{i+k}(0) \\ v & := kg = kh_{i}(0) = h_{i+k}(0) \in K, k \in \mathbb{Z}. \\ \bar{h}_{i+k}(0) \ walks \ back \ k \ vertexes \ from \ h_{i+k}(0) \ to \ reach \ h_{i}(0) \\ \bar{h}_{i+k}(0) \ & := h_{(i+k)-k}(0) = h_{i}(0). \end{aligned}$   $+ : K \times K \to K, \ is \ defined \ by \\ move \ to \ v'' \ via \ h_{i}(0) = v, h_{i+k}(v') \\ + (v, v') = +(kg, k'g) = kg + k'g. \\ &= kh_{i}(0) + k'h_{i+k}(0) = h_{(i+k+k')}[n](0) = v'' \in K. \end{aligned}$ 

**Theorem 5.** Every path triangulation is collection of path cycles.

*Proof.* Let  $h \triangle^n K$  (briefly, K) be a path triangulation of a cell complex K. From Def. 6, K is a collection of path triangles  $h \triangle E \in K$ . In a triangulation containing more than one path triangle, every vertex  $v \in h \triangle E$  is the beginning of a another path h', *i.e.*, h(1) = h'(0) := v in a triangle  $h' \triangle E'$ . From Lemma 4, every pair of vertexes in K is path-connected. By following the path that begins with vertex v, we eventually arrive at a path that takes us back to v. Hence, every vertex in the triangulation belongs to a path cycle and, from Def. 11, K is a collection of path cycles.

#### 5. Free Group Presentation of a Path Triangulation

This section introduces free group presentation of a path triangulation of a cell complex.

#### Definition 12. Rotman Presentation [13, p.239]

Let  $X = \{g_1, \ldots\}, \Delta = \{v = \sum kg_i, v \in groupG, g_i \in X\}$  be a set of generators of members of a nonempty set X and set of relations between members of G and the generators in X. A mapping of the form  $\{X, \Delta\} \to G$ , a free group, is called a presentation of G.

We write G(V, +) to denote a group G on a nonvoid set V with a binary operation +. For a group G(V, +) presentable as a collection of linear combinations of members of a basis set  $\mathcal{B} \subseteq V$ , we write  $G(\mathcal{B}, +)$ .

# Definition 13. Free Group Presentation of a Cell Complex.

Let  $2^K$  be the collection of cell complexes in a CW space K,  $E \in 2^K$  containing n vertexes, G(E, +) a group on nonvoid set E with binary operation +,  $\Delta =$   $\{v = \sum kg_i, v \in E, g_i \in E\}$  be a set of generators of members in E, set of relations between members of E and the generators  $\mathcal{B} \subset E$ ,  $g_i \in \mathcal{B}, v = h_{i[n]}(0) \in K$ ,  $k_i$ the *i*<sup>th</sup> integer coefficient [n] in a linear combination  $\sum_{i,j} k_i g_j$  of generating elements  $g_j = h_j(0) \in \mathcal{B}$ . A free group **presentation** of G is a continuous map  $f: 2^K \times \triangle \rightarrow 2^K$  defined by

$$\begin{split} f(\mathcal{B}, \triangle) &= \left\{ v := \sum_{i,j} k_i g_j \in \triangle : v \in E, g_j \in \mathcal{B}, k_i \in \mathbb{Z} \right\} \\ &= \underbrace{\mathcal{B} \times \triangle \mapsto \text{ free group } G \text{ presentation of } G(E, +)}_{G(\{g_1, \dots, g_{|\mathcal{B}|}\}, +).} \end{split}$$

Lemma 6. [10] Every 1-cycle in a CW space K has a free group presentation.

**Theorem 6.** Every path triangulation of a cell complex has a free group presentation.

*Proof.* Let  $h \triangle^n K$  be a path triangulation of a cell complex K. From Theorem 5,  $h \triangle^n K$  is a collection of path cycles. From Lemma 6, every path cycle in  $h \triangle^n K$ . Let v a vertex in a path cycle  $\operatorname{cyc} E \in h \triangle^n K$ . From Lemma 4, every pair of vertexes v, v' in  $h \triangle^n K$  is path-connected. Hence, v serves as a generator in a basis for a free group presentation of the triangulation.

**Example 8.** From Theorem 6, vertex p is a generator of a free group presentation of the path triangulation of the Rotman-Vigolo fish in Fig. 2, namely,  $G(\mathcal{B}, +) = G(\{p\}, +)$ . Vertex p is labeled **nucleus**, since p serves as a generator of not only the free group for the entire fish but also for the free group presentation of the cluster of triangles attached to p. This p-cell complex is also calle a maximal nucleus complex (MNC), this complex has the highest number of triangle attached to a vertex in the path triangulation of the fish.

In an extension of Whitehead's homotopy system geometric realization theorem, observe that a **homotopy group**  $\rho$  that presents a path-connected cell complex K (denoted by  $\rho(K)$  is a free group (a Rotman homotopy group [13, 370]that presents K, which has a basis—one or more generator vertexes that are initial path vertexes—and a move binary operation). A **path homotopy group** is a free group that presents a path triangulation of a cell complex K (denoted by  $h\rho(K)$ ).

#### Definition 14. Path Homotopy System.

A path homotopy system  $\{h\rho(K)\} E$  (denoted by  $h \stackrel{\rho(K)}{\bigtriangleup} E$ ) is a collection of path homotopy groups that present a collection of path triangulations of a cell complex K and its subcomplexes.

# Theorem 7. Path Homotopy System Realization

A path homotopy system has a geometric realization.

*Proof.* Let  $h \stackrel{\rho(K)}{\bigtriangleup} E$  be a path homotopy system and let  $h\rho(K) \in E$  be a free group that presents either a path triangulation  $h \bigtriangleup^n K$  of a complex K or a subcomplex of K. From Theorem 3,  $h \bigtriangleup^n K$  has a geometric realization a collection of 1-cycles that are path-connected. From Theorem 6,  $h \bigtriangleup K$  has a free group presentation.

Then,  $h\rho(K)$  has a geometric realization. Hence, the homotopy system  $h \bigtriangleup E$  has a geometric realization as collection of path triangulations on cell complex K and its subcomplexes.

14

6. PATH TRIANGULATION AS A GOOD COVER OF A CELL COMPLEX

An important property of a path triangulation of a cell complex is that it provides a good cover of the complex.

Recall that a **cover** of a space X is a collection of subsets  $E \in 2^X$  such that  $X = \bigcup E$  [22, §15.9,p. 104].

#### **Definition 15.** [15, §4, p. 12].

A cover of a space X is a **good cover**, provided, X has a collection of subsets  $E \in 2^X$  such that  $X = \bigcup E$  and  $\bigcap_{finite} E \neq \emptyset$  is contractible, i.e., all nonvoid

intersections of the finitely many subsets  $E \in 2^X$  are contractible.

#### Theorem 8. Path Triangulation Good Cover.

Every path triangulation of a cell complex is a good cover.

*Proof.* Here, we consider only good covers resulting from the trianglulation of finite planar cell complexes. Let  $h \triangle^n K$  (briefly, K) be a path triangulation of a planar cell complex K. From Def. 6,K is a collection of path triangles  $h \triangle E \in K$ . In addition, every vertex in K is attached to one or more path triangles. Then we know that the intersection of all of the path triangles is a vertex  $v \in K$ , *i.e.*, we have

$$K = \bigcup_{h \triangle E \in h \triangle^n K} h \triangle E.$$
nerve Nrv $K = \bigcap_{h \triangle E \in h \triangle^n K} h \triangle E = \{p\}.$ 

Hence, NrvK contracts to vertex p and  $h \triangle E$  is a good cover.

#### 7. Conjectures

This section briefly introduces conjectures, which lead to a transition from the results in this paper to closely related results in digital topology by G. Lupton and N.A. Scoville [7], *e.g.*,

#### **Theorem 9.** Theorem 5.16 [7, p.22].

Every finitely presented group occurs as the (digital) fundatmental group of some digital image.

**Conjecture 1.** Every path triangulation has a geometric realization in some triangulated digital image.

**Conjecture 2.** Every finitely presented path triangulation free group occurs as a free group presentation of some triangulated digital image.

#### Acknowledgements

Many thanks to Tane Vergili for her many brilliant observations and suggested improvements in various drafts of this paper.

#### JAMES F. PETERS

#### References

- P. Alexandroff, *Elementary concepts of topology*, Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1965, 63 pp., translation of Einfachste Grundbegriffe der Topologie [Springer, Berlin, 1932], translated by Alan E. Farley, Preface by D. Hilbert, MR0149463.
- P. Alexandroff and H. Hopf, *Topologie. Band i*, Springer, Berlin, 1935, Zbl 13, 79; reprinted Chelsea Publishing Co., Bronx, N. Y., 1972. iii+637 pp., MR0345087.
- B.N. Delone [Delaunay], Neue darstellung der geometrischen kristallographie, Z. Kristallograph 84 (1933), 109–149.
- \_\_\_\_\_, Sur la sphère vide, Izvestia Akad. Nauk SSSR, Otdelenie Matematicheskii i Estestvennyka Nauk 7 (1934), 193–800.
- Euclid, *Elements*, Alexandria, 300 B.C., English translation by R. Fitzpatrick, from Euclidis Elementa Latin text by B.G. Teubneri, 1883-1885 and the Greek text by J.L. Heiberg, 1883-1885.
- 6. A. Kupers, Zeeman's conjecture, Grad. J. Math. 6 (2021), 35-42, MR4287600.
- G. Lupton and N.A. Scoville, Digital fundamental groups and edge groups of clique complexes, arXiv 1910 (2019), no. 08189, 1–32, see arXiv:1910.08189.
- L. Mosher, Tiling the projective foliation space of a punctured surface, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 306 (1988), no. 1, 1–70, MR0927683, reviewer N.V. Ivanov.
- J.F. Peters, Homotopic nerve complexes with free group presentations, Int. Online Conf. Alegebraic and Geometric Methods of Analysis, 25-28 May 2021, Odesa, Ukraine, Institute of Mathematics of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, Kyiv Mathematical Society, 2021, dedicated to the memory of Yuriy Trokhymchuk (17.03.1928-18.12.2019), arXiv:2106.13586, pp. 110–111.
- J.F. Peters and T. Vergili, Descriptive proximal homotopy. Properties and relations, arXiv 2014 (2021), no. 05601, 1–16, see arXiv:2104.05601.
- 11. \_\_\_\_\_, Good coverings of proximal alexandrov spaces. Homotopic cycles in jordan curve theorem extension, arXiv **2108** (2021), no. 10113, 1–19, see arXiv:2108.10113.
- G.F.B. Riemann, Grundlagen f
  ür eine allgemeine theorie der functionen einer ver
  änderlichen complexen gr
  össe, inauguraldissertation, g
  öttingen, Ph.D. thesis, University of G
  öttingen, Abdruck, G
  öttingen, 1851, 43 pp., supervisor: C.F. Gauss.
- J.J. Rotman, The theory of groups. An introduction. fourth edition., Springer-Verlag, New York, 1965, 1995, xvi+513 pp. ISBN: 0-387-94285-8, MR1307623.
- 14. R.M. Switzer, Algebraic topology homology and homotopy, Springer, Berlin, 2002, xii+526 pp., Zbl 1003.55002.
- K. Tanaka, Simple homotopy theory and nerve theorem for categories, Topology Appl. 291 (2021), 1–23, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.topol.2021.107609,MR4208071.
- T. Thrivikraman, Review of: T.m. liebling, l. pournin, voronoi diagrams and delaunay triangulations: ubiquitous siamese twins, doc. math. 2021, optimization stories, 419–431, Math-SciNet Mathematical Reviews (2012), 1, MR2991503.
- 17. W.A. Veech, Teichmüller curves in moduli space, eisenstein series and an application to triangular billiards, Invent. Math. 97 (1989), no. 3, 553–583, MR1005006.
- F. Vigolo, *The geometry and topology of wide ribbons*, Ph.D. thesis, Balliol College, University of Oxford, UK, 2018, 207 pp., supervisor: Cornelia Druţu.
- J.H.C. Whitehead, Simplicial spaces, nuclei and m-groups, Proceedings of the London Math. Soc. 45 (1939), no. 4, 243–327, MR0156351, reviewed by H.R. Gluck.
- <u>\_\_\_\_\_</u>, Combinatorial homotopy. I, Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society 55 (1949), no. 3, 213–245, Part 1.
- <u>—</u>, Combinatorial homotopy. II, Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society 55 (1949), no. 5, 453–496, Part 2.
- S. Willard, General topology, Dover Pub., Inc., Mineola, NY, 1970, xii + 369pp, ISBN: 0-486-43479-6 54-02, MR0264581.
- 23. E.C. Zeeman, On the dunce hat, Topology 2 (1964), 341-358, MR0156351.

Computational Intelligence Laboratory, University of Manitoba, WPG, MB, R3T 5V6, Canada and Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Adiyaman University, 02040 Adiyaman, Turkey

Email address: james.peters3@umanitoba.ca